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| DECI Sl

DYER, Menber: This case cones before the Public Enpl oynent
Rel ati ons Board (PERB or Board) on exceptions filed by The
Regents of The University of California (Lawence Livernore
Nati onal Laboratory) (University) to a Board adm nistrative |aw
j udge's (ALJ) | proposed decision (attached). In his proposed
deci si on, the‘ ALJ found that the University violated the Hi gher
Educati on Enpl oyer-Enpl oyee Rel ati ons Act (HEERA) section 3571(a)

and (c)! when it refused to meet and confer with the Lawr ence

'HEERA is codified at Governnent Code section 3560 et seq.
Unl ess otherwi se indicated, all statutory references herein are
to the Governnent Code. Section 3571 reads, in relevant part:

It shall be unlawful for the higher education
enpl oyer to do any of the follow ng:



Livermore National Laboratory Protective Service Cfficers
Associ ation (Association) over the effects of the University's
decision to reduce the nunber of protective service officers
(PSGs) in the high-security Superbl ock areé of the Law ence
Li vernore National Laboratory (Laboratory).

The Board has reviewed the entire record in this case,
i ncluding the proposed decision, the hearing transcript, the
University's exceptions and the Assogiation's response thereto.
The Board adopts the proposed decision insofar as it holds that
the University violated HEERA when it failed and refused to
negoti ate over the reasonably foreseeable effects of the
reduction in staff, including the change in work hours of PSOs
transferred to positions outsidé of the Superblock. The Board
finds, however, that the University's sinmultaneous nodification
of the regular workday for PSOs remaining in the Superblock was a
separate and distinct decision and not a reasonably foreseeable
effect of the reduction in staff. Neither the Association's

charge nor the resulting conplaint refer to this workday

(a) Inpose or threaten to inpose reprisals
on enpl oyees, to discrimnate or threaten to
di scrim nate agai nst enpl oyees, or otherw se
tointerfere with, restrain, or coerce

enpl oyees because of their exercise of rights
guaranteed by this chapter. For purposes of
this subdivision, "enployee" includes an
applicant for enploynent or reenploynent.

(c) Refuse or fail to engage in neeting and
conferring with an exclusive representative.



modi fi cati on. For the reasons set forth below the Board
di sm sses this new all egation as untiﬁely.

| NTRODUCT] ON

The Association filed an unfair practice charge against the
University on May 23, 1995. On July 27, 1995, the Board's
general counsel issued a conplaint based on that charge. As
anended, the charge and conplaint alleged that, on
January 5, 1995, the University reduced the nunber of staff
wi thin the Superblock by transferring a number of PSCs from the
" Superblock to other areas of the Laboratory. The charge and
complaint further alleged that the University undertook this
reduction in staff w thout providing the Association notice or an
opportunity to bargain over either the decision or the effects
thereof. During the hearing, the Assobiation present ed evi dence
that on January 5, 1995, the University al so reduced the regul ar
hours of work for PSCs remaining in the Superbl ock.

In his proposed decision, the ALJ held that the University's
deci sion to reduce the nunber of PSGs in the Superblock was
nonnegoti abl e but that the University violated the HEERA when it
failed and refused to neet and confer in good faith over the
negotiable effects of that decision. The ALJ ordered the
University to neet and confer with the Association regarding the
effects of the change in the nunber of PSGCs in the Superblock, to
reinstate the eight-and-one-half hour workday for PSGs remnaining
in the Superblock, and to pay PSOs remaining in the Superbl ock

full backpay plus interest. In addition, the ALJ ordered a



partial backpay award for those PSOs whose hours of work were
reduced when the University transferred them out of the

Super bl ock. (Transmarine Navigation Corporation (1968) 170 NLRB

389 [67 LRRM 1419] (Transmarine). )?

UNI VERSI TY' EXCEPTI
The University essentially targets three portions of the
ALJ's decision. First, the University contends that the ALJ
erred in finding that it refused to bargain over the effects of
the reduction in staff. Second, the University challenges the
ALJ's finding that it unilaterally reduced the hours of work for
any PSOCs. Finally, the University objects to the ALJ's
inposition of full backpay for Superblock PSGs.
ASSOCI ATI ON' S RESPONSE
The Association responds that the proposed decision is
supported by the evidentiary record, consistent with established
| egal authority, and serves to effectuate the purposes of HEERA
Specifically, the Association contends that-the record supports
the finding that the University refused to bargain over t he '
effects of the change in the nunber of staff. The Association
al so argues that the change in hours of work for PSGs renaining

in the Superblock, although an independent violation of HEERA

A Transmarine remedy is a limted backpay award that
attenpts to approximate the parties' bargaining positions had
there been no violation. (Placentia Unified School District
(1986) PERB Deci sion No. 595 at p. 11.) In short, the
Transnari ne backpay award begins after the issuance of a decision
and conti?ues during the pendency of effects negotiations. (1d.
at p. 13.




was notivated by the University's decision to cut costs and,
therefore, part and parcel of the reduction in staff.
DI SCUSSI ON

The University operates the Laboratory under a contract with
the United States Departnent of Energy (DOE). The Superblock is
‘a high security facility located within the Laboratofy. Prior to
January 5, 1995, the University's established practice was that
PSCs assi gned to the Super bl ock had a regul ar workday of eight
and one-half hours. On January 5, 1995, the University
transferred a nunber of Superblock PSGs to eight-hour positions
~outside of the Superblock. That sane day, the University reduced
t he wor kday of the remaining Superblock PSGs to eight hours.

The ALJ properly held that the University's decision to
reduce the nunber of PSGs in the Superbl ock was outside of the

scope of representation.® (HEERA section 3562(q);* Regents of

the University of California (1987) PERB Decision No. 640-H at

®Because there appears to be no conflict between DOE s _
regul ations and the HEERA, the ALJ's suprenmacy cl ause anal ysis,
al t hough accurate, is unnecessary.

*HEERA section 3562 provides, in relevant part:

(q) For purposes of the University of
California only, "scope of representation”
means, and is limted to, wages, hours of
enpl oynment, and other terns and conditions of
enpl oynent. The scope of representation
shall not include:

(1) Consideration of the nerits, necessity,
©or organi zation of any service, activity, or
program establi shed by [aw or resolution of
the regents or the directors, except for the
terms and conditions of enploynent of
enpl oyees who nay be affected thereby.
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p. 20 (Regents) (noting that reorgani zati on decisions are within
enpl oyer's prerogative).) Nonethel ess, HEERA obligates the
University to neet and confer over the reasonably foreseeable
effects of that decision to the extent that they inpact the terns
and conditions of enmployment. (ld. at p. 17.)

Refusal to Meet and Cbnfef in Good Faith

Both Uni versity and Association witnesses testified that the
Associ ati on requested bargainihg over the effects of the
reduction in staff. Nonetheless, the University contends that
the ALJ erred in finding that it refused to neet and confer in
good faith over those effects. In fact, the University contends,
the Association rebuffed a University offer to discuss the
effects of the staffing decision. The record does not support
the University's reading of the facts.

Al t hough University witnesses testified that they were
willing to discuss the effects of the reduction in staff, an
Association witness testified that the University refused to neet
and confer over those effects, offering instead to make a
presentation regarding the history of the Superbl ock. In
response to this inconsistent testinony, the ALJ credited the
Associ ation's witness. The ALJ's credibility determ nation is
supported by the record and we see no reason to disturb it. (See

Los_Angel es Conmunity Col | ege District (1995) PERB Deci si on

No. 1091 at pp. 9-10 citing Regents of the University of

California v. Public Enploynent Relations Board (1986) 41 Cal. 3d

601, 617 [224 Cal .Rptr. 631].) Once the Association requested



bar gai ni ng over the effects of the reduction in staff, the
University was obligated to negotiate oVef all of the reasonably
foreseeable effects thereof. |Its presentation on the history of
t he Superblock did not neet this obligation.

Hours of Work

In its second group of exceptions, the University contends
that the ALJ erred in finding that the University violated the
HEERA when it failed to provide the Association with notice and
an opportunity to neet and confer over the change in hours of
work for PSOs. In short, the University alleges that the
Associ ation never specifically asked to bargain over the change
ih hours. Accordingly, the University contends, the evidence
regarding the change in hours of work was a conplete surprise and
the ALJ shoul d not have nade-any findi ngs based on that evidence.

The Board does not require that a request to bargain over
the effects of a change include a laundry list of all possible
effects inplicated by the change. (See Newman- Crows Landi ng
Unified School District (1982) PERB Decision No. 223 at p. 9

(noting that request to bargain need not be made in any
particular form.) Once the Association requested bargai ning
over the effects of the reduction in staff, the University was
obligated to negotiate over all of the reasonably foreseeable
effects of that change, including those effects not specifically
mentioned in the request. The issue, therefore, is whether the

change in the hours of either group of PSCs was a reasonably



foreseeabl e effect of the Uni versity's decision to reduce
staffing in the Superbl ock.

As noted above, the University reduced the hours of work for
two groups of PSCs. The Uni versity reduced the regul ar wofkday
of some PSOs by transferring them from eight and one-hal f hour
Super bl ock positions to eight hour positions outside the
Super bl ock. At the same time, the University reduced the regul ar
wor kday of the remaining Superblock PSGCs by .one-half hour.

The PSCs who were transferred froman efght and one-hal f
hour Suberblock assignnent to an eight hour non- Super bl ock
assi gnment experienced a change in their hours of work as a
direct result of the Superbl ock staffing reducti on. (See Regents
at p. 20.) For these PSCs, the change in hours of work was a

reasonably foreseeable, and therefore negotiable, effect of the-

reduction in staff. (See e.g., Lake Elsinore School District

(1987) PERB Deci sion No. 646 at p. 16, citing M. Diablo Unified
School District (1983) PERB Decision No. 373.)

The situation is different for those PSCs who remained in
the Superblock. It is true that these PSOs experienced a change
in their hours of work on the same date on which the University
reduced the staff in the Superblock. Further, cost concerns
notivated both this decision and the University's decision to
reduce the nunber of Superblock PSOGs. This coincidence of tine
and notive is insufficient, however, to create a causal |ink
bet ween these separate and distinct decisions. Accordingly, the

University's decision to reduce the hours of the remaining



Super bl ock PSCs does not constitute a reasonably foreseeable
effect of the decision to reduce the nunber of PSCs assigned to
t he Super bl ock. |

As. the Associ ation contends, the University's failure to
provi de notice and an opportunity to neet and confer before
reduci ng the workday for the remaining Superblock PSCs would, if
proven, constitute an independent violation of the HEERA ( HEERA
section 3562(q); see _San Jacinto Unified School District (1994)

PERB Deci si on No. 1078, proposed decision at pp. 17-18 (noting
that change in hours of enploynent is within scope); Conpton

Unified School District (1989) PERB Decision No. 784, proposed

decision at p. 18.) However, it is undisputed that the change
occurred on January 5, 1995. Because the Association did not
raise this allegation until the February 20, 1996 hearing, the
Board nmust consider the tineliness of this new allegation.

HEERA section 3563.2 provides that the Board may not issue a
conpl ai nt on conduct occurring nmore than six nonths prior to the

filing of a charge.®> (California State University (1989) PERB

Deci sion No. 718-H at pp. 89 (noting that six-month tine limt
is mandatory and jurisdictional).) This six-nonth tine limt

begins to run as soon as the charging party knew or should have

°HEERA section 3563.2 provides, in relevant part:

(a) Any enployee, enployee organization, or
enpl oyer shall have the right to file an
unfair practice charge, except that the board
shall not issue a conplaint in respect of any
charge based upon an all eged unfair practice
occurring nore than six nonths prior to the
filing of the charge.



known of the alleged conduct. (Regents of the Univérsity_gL_
California (1993) PERB Decision No. 1002-H at p. 3; IehachapiL

Unified School District (1993) PERB Decision No. 1024 at p. 4

(noting that charging party has burden of proving that al l egation
is tinely).)

Absent evidence of del ayed di scovery, PERB could not have
i ssued a conplaint had the Association filed a charge regarding
the January 5, 1995 reduction in hours on February 20, 1996.
(HEERA section 3563.2.) Likew se, the Board could not have
al l oned the Associatfon to anend an existing charge or conplaint

to include the new allegation on that date. (California State

University (1990) PERB Deci sion No. 853-H at p. 7; Los Angeles

Unified School District (199.4) PERB Decision No. 1041

(Los Angeles), dismssal letter at pp. 7-9.) The Board nust
treat a new allegation raised for the first time at hearing the
sane way. Accordingly, the new allegation concerning the change
in work hours of the renﬁining Super bl ock PSCs is untinely and
must be dismissed. (See Regents at p. 15.)°% Having disnissed_
this all egation, we need not address the University's chall enge

to the proposed renedy.

®The Board has long held that new | egal theories relate back
to the filing date of the original charge. (Los _Angel es,
dism ssal letter at pp. 7-9; Regents at p. 15.) New factua
al l egations, such as the new unilateral change allegation in this
case, however, do not relate back to the filing of the original

charge. (lbid.)
10



CONCLUSI ON

The Board.affi rms the ALJ's conclusion that the University-
violated the HEERA when it failed and refused to neet and confer
with the Association over the reasonably foreseeable effects of
its decision to reduce the nunber of PSOé wi thin the Superbl ock.
'The Board concl udes, however, that the University's decision to
reduce the regular workday of PSCs remaining within the
Super bl ock was a separate and distinct decision and not a
reasonably foreseeable effect of the reduction in Superblock
staff. Because the Association did not raise this allegation
wWithin the six nonth time limt set forth in HEERA section
3563.2, the Board finds that the all egati on is untinely and nust
be di sm ssed.

ORDER

Upon the findings of fact, conclusions of |law, and the
entire record in this case, it is found that the Regents of the
Uni versity of California (Lawence Livernore National Laboratory)
(University) violated the H gher Education Enployer-Enployee
Rel ati ons Act (HEERA), Governnent Code section 3571(a) and (c),
by refusing to neet and confer over the effects of its decision
to reduce the nunber of staff in the Su_perbl ock.

Pursuant to HEERA section 3563.3, it is hereby ORDERED that
the University and its representatives shall:

A CEASE AND DESI ST FROM

1. Failing and refusing to neet and confer with the

Lawr ence Livernore National Laboratory Protective Service

11



O ficers Association (Association) about the effects of its
decision to change the nunber of staff in the Superbl ock.

| 2. Denying bargaining unit enployees the right to be
represented by the Association in their enpl oynent relations with
the University.

B. TAKE THE FOLLOW NG AFFI RVATI VE ACTI ONS DESI GNED TO
EFFECTUATE THE POLI CI ES OF THE HEERA:

1. Beginning ten (10) days followi ng the date this
Decision is no |l onger subject to reconsideration, pay to officers
who, . but for the University's decision to reduce staffing, would
have worked in the Super bl ock and woul d have earned an additional
one- hal f hour of pay per workday, the additional pay they would
have earned, until: (a) the date the University bargains to
agreenent with the Association regarding the effects of its
decision to reduce the staffing Ievel w thin the Superblock; or
(b) the date the University and Associ ation neet and confer to
bona fide inpasse; or (c) the failure of the Association to.
request bargaining within ten (10) days followi ng the date that
this Decision is no |onger subject to reconsideration or the
failure of the Association to commence negotiations within five
(5)'morking days of the University's notice of its desire to neet
and confer; or (d) the subsequent failure of the Association to
meet and confer in good faith.

2. Wthin thirty-five (35 days follow ng the date
that this Decision is no |longer subject to reconsideration, post
at all work |ocations where notices to enpl oyees are customarily
pl aced, copies of the Notice attached as an Appendi x her et o,

12



signed by an authorized agent of the University. Such posting
shal | be maintained for a period of thirty (30) consecutive
wor kdays. Reasonabl e steps shall be taken to insure that this
Notice is not reduced in siie, defaced, altered, or covered by
any material .
3. Notify the San Francisco Regional Director of the

Public Enploynent Relations Board, in witing and in accordance
with the director's instructions, of the steps that the
Uni versity has taken to conply with this Order,

Al'l other aspects of the charge and conplaint are hereby

DI SM SSED

Chairman Caffrey and Menber Amador joined in this Decision.

13



APPENDI X
NOTI CE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
PUBLI C EMPLOYMENT RELATI ONS BQOARD
An agency of the State of California

After a hearing in Unfair Practice Case No. SF-CE-421-H,
Law ence_Li ver nor lonal L ratory_Protective Service
Oficers Association v. The Regents of the University of
~California (Lawence Livernore National Laboratory). in which al
parties had the right to participate, it has been found that The
Regents of the University of California (Lawence Livernore
National Laboratory) (University) violated the Hi gher Education
Enpl oyer - Enpl oyee Rel ati ons Act (HEERA), Governnent Code section
3571(a) and (c). The University violated HEERA by refusing to
meet and confer over the effects of its decision to reduce the
nunber of staff in the Superbl ock.

As a result of this conduct, we have been ordered to post
this Notice and we will:

A CEASE AND DESI ST FROM

1. Failing and refusing to nmeet and confer with the
Lawr ence Livernore National Laboratory Protective Service
O ficers Association (Association) about the effects of its
decision to change the nunber of staff in the Superbl ock.

2. Denying bargaining unit enployees the right to be
represented by the Association in their enploynent relations wth
the University. :

B. TAKE THE FOLLOW NG AFFI RVATI VE ACTI ONS DESI GNED TO
EFFECTUATE THE POLICI ES OF THE HEERA

1. Beginning ten (10) days followng the date this
Decision is no |longer subject to reconsideration, pay to officers
who, but for the University's decision to reduce staffing, would
have worked in the Superbl ock and woul d have earned an additi onal
one- hal f hour of pay per workday, the additional pay they would
have earned, until: (a) the date the University bargains to
agreenent with the Association regarding the effects of its
decision to reduce the staffing |level within the Superblock; or
(b) the date the University and the Association neet and confer
to bona fide inpasse; or (c) the failure of the Association to -
request bargaining within ten (10) days follow ng the date that
this Decision is no |onger subject to reconsideration or the
failure of the Association to commence negotiations within five



(5 working days of the University's notice of its desire to neet

and confer; or (d) the subsequent failure of the Association to
nmeet and confer in good faith. '

Dat ed: | THE REGENTS OF THE UNI VERSI TY
: : OF CALI FORNI A

Aut hori zed Representative

THI'S I'S AN OFFI CI AL NOTI CE. | T MUST REMAI N POSTED FOR AT LEAST
THI RTY (30) CONSECUTI VE WORKDAYS FROM THE DATE OF POSTI NG AND

MUST NOT BE REDUCED I N SI ZE, DEFACED, ALTERED OR COVERED BY ANY
MATERI AL.



STATE OF CALI FORNI A
PUBLI C EMPLOYMENT RELATI ONS BOARD

"~ LAWRENCE LI VERMORE NATI ONAL
LABORATCORY PROTECTI VE SERVI CE
OFFI CERS ASSOCI ATI ON,

Unfair Practice
Case No. SF-CE-421-H

Charging Party,

V.
PRCPOSED DECI SI ON
THE REGENTS OF THE UNI VERSI TY OF (10/ 23/ 96)
'CALI FORNI A ( LAWRENCE LI VERMORE

NATI ONAL LABORATCRY) ,

Respondent .

T N A A A

Appearances: Carroll, Burdick & McDonough, by Gary M Messi ng,
Esq., for Lawence Livernore National Laboratory Protective
Service Oficers Association; Gabriela B. COdell, Esq., for the
Regents of the University of California (Lawence Livernore
Nati onal Laboratory). '
‘Before Gary M Gallery, Adm nistrative Law Judge.
PROCEDURAL HI STORY

This proceedi ng commrenced with the' fili ng of an unfair
practice charge by the Lawence Livernore National Laboratory
Protective Service Oficers Association (PSQY) against the
Regents of the University of California (Lawence Livernore
Nati onal Laboratory) (LLNL or University) on May 23, 1995. After
investigation, and on July 27, 1995, the general counsel of the
Publ i ¢ Enpl oynent Rel ations Board (Board or PERB) issued a
conpl ai nt against the LLNL.

The conpl aint alleged uni | at er al changes in staffing |evels,
overtinme opportunities and -pr ocedures for evaluation of 'persons_

returning to work after incurring an injury on the job.

Specifically, the conplaint alleged that prior to January: 5,



1995, the staffing levels within the Superblock (a highly-

secured area within the LLNL nore particularly described bel ow)
included a total of 15 Protective Service Oficers (PSO on the
day shift andll4 on the swng and ow shifts. The conplaint

. alleged that on or about January 5, 1995, LLNL changed the policy
by transferring four officers on the day shift and six officers
on the swing and ow shifts.to assi gnments outside the
Super bl ock.

Four additional causes of action were set forth in the
complaint relating to changes in the distribution of staff anong
the three shifts at the Superblock, overtinme opportunities for
Armed Property Control OFficers, procedures for evaluation of
fitness for return to work following on-the-job injury, and
failure to neet and confer in good faith.

Al'l of the changes in policy were alleged to have been
undertaken wi t hout giving PSOA an opportunity to neet and confer
over the decision to inplenent the changes and/or the gffects of
the changes. This conduct was alleged to constitute failure and
refusal to neet and confer in good faith in violation of the
Hi gher Education Enpl oyer-Enpl oyee Rel ations Act (Act or HEERA)
section 3571(0), and interference with enpl oyees rights to be

represented in violation of section 3571(a)-*

I'The Act commences at section 3560 of the Governnent Code.
All references are to the Governnment Code unl ess ot herw se noted..
In pertinent part, section 3571 provides that it is an unfair
| abor practice for the University to:

(a) Inpose or threaten to inpose reprisals
on enpl oyees, to discrimnate or threaten to

2



The LLNL filed its answer on August 16, 1995, adnitting and
denying allegations and raising affirmative defenses that will be
di scussed in othér parts of this decision.

Settlenent efforts by PERB agents were not successful.

- For mal hearing was held on February 20 and 21, 1996, in

Pl easanton, California. At the commencenent of the fornal
hearing, PSOA announced that a tentative agreenent on a
collective bargaining agreenent had been reached between PSQA and
LLNL.  Subsequent ratification of the agreenent resulted in
PSOA's withdrawal of all issues raised by the conplaint éave t he
change in staffing levels within the Superblock. Wth the filing
of post-hearing briefs on April 18, 1996, the matter m@s deened

submtted for deci sion.

FI NDI NGS OF FACT
The University is an enployer within the neaning of the Act.
PSQA was certified by PERB in March of 1994, as the exclusive |
representative of security personnel at the LLNL facility near
Li ver nor e, California. There are approxi mately 123 PSGs, |

30 sergeants and 6 |ieutenants enployed within the Protective

di scrimnate agai nst enpl oyees, or otherw se

tointerfere with, restrain, or coerce

enpl oyees because of their exercise of rights
guaranteed by this chapter.

For purposes of this subdivision, "enployee"

i ncl udes an applicant for enploynent or

reenpl oynent .

(c) Refuse or fail to engage in neeting and
conferring wth an exclusive representative.

3



Forces Division, one of four divisions in the Safeguards and
Security Departnment at LLNL.

Phil Kasper (Kasper) is the Protective Forces Division
| eader. Steve Crowder (Crowder) has been a PSO at the LLNL for
over eight years and serves as president of PSQOA and is a nenber
of its negotiations teém PSQA represents only the PSOCs.

PSCs are armed officers classified by the Departnent of
Energy (DCE) as Security Police Oficer Level Il. PSGCs have
authority, under the Atom c Energy Act and Title 10, Code of
Federal Regul ations, Part 1047, to carry an arrréd weapon and to
use whatever force is necessary to prevent theft or sabotage of
special nuclear material (SNM.2? This includes authority to
arrest persons within the confines of the |aboratory. The LLNL
is a Cass A facility operated by the University under contract
with DOE. |

Under the Atomi ¢ Energy Act,® DOE is enmpowered to enact
regul ati ons governing the security of SNM DOE'operat es nearly
one hundred facilities around the country. DCE rules and
regul ations, not the |east of which involves security, govern the
operation of the LLNL. DOE has final and ultimate authority on

all levels of security.

2Ei t her pl utonium or enriched urani um

342 U.S.C, section 2011, et seq. The statute refers to the
Atom ¢ Energy Commission. In 1977, section 7151(a) was enacted
which transferred all functions to the DOE.

4



Section 706.40 of Title 10 - Energy* provides:

On all
owned, ,
DCE retains absol ute
neither the security

adm nistration are matters for
bar gai ni ng bet ween managenent

i nsofar as DOE securi

the coll ective bargaining process,
security policies and regulations wll
made known to both parties.
feasible DOE w ||
representatives of nmanagenent

ext ent

formul ating security
that affect
process. [¥

matters of security at al
privately operated DOE installations,

Gover nnent -

and fi nal and

rul es nor

aut hority,
their
col |l ective
and | abor,
ty regul ations affect
t he
be

To the fullest
consult with

and | abor in
rules and regul ati ons

the coll ective bargaining

These regul ations al so address collective bargaining rights

of enpl oyees. Section 706. 2(e)

provides that there will be

"[n]infnun1interference with the traditional rights and

privil eges of Anmerican |abor."

security clearance for

These provisions also provide for

uni on representatives to classified

i nformati on where reasonably expected.

DOE Order 5632.7A, Chapter
al | ocati on of personnel
a

and nobi | e posts shal

the "Design Basis Threat

Depart nment of Energy
Facilities (U);"
anal yses;
site, terrain,

appropri ate Departnent al
pl anni ng for response tines,

provi ded by physi cal

‘60 FR 67518,

SWhile this section refers
installation" |

wi tness Richard Vergas that it

resources provides,

Iopay
characterlst]cs of
and envi ronment ;

1, section 3, which covers

in relevant part:

The | ocation and manni ng of fixed

| be determ ned using
Policy for

(DCE) Prograns and

vul nerability

the facility or
and
directives.

t he del ay
t he

VWhen

barriers after

section 706. 40.

to "privately operated DOE

am convi nced by the testinony of University

applies to LLNL.
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initial detection of the intrusion shall be
considered. Wirk schedules for protective
force personnel shall be devel oped and
nonitored on a site-specific basis to provide
adequate relief, training tinme, balanced
overtime, and sufficient time off to ensure
on-duty personnel work at peak physical and
mental effectiveness.

The Superbl ock

The LLNL consists of a one-square mle area sur r ounded by a
fence and includes a work place for about 8,500 enployees. The
LLNL is owned by the federal governnent through DOCE. ECE has a
'operations contract with the University for the latter to operate
the LLNL. '

Wthin the confines of the LLNL is the SUperbIOck, nearly
the size of a city block with the highest | evel of security
within the LLNL. It is a change in the staffing of PSCs within
t he Superblock that gave rise to this dispute.

Compl etely encircling the Superblock is the isolation zone,
an area 35 feet wide, with parallel ten foot fences on each side
of the zone. Wthin the isolation zone are severél el ectronic
means of detection for persons attenpting to gain access to the
Super bl ock. These include the Personnel Intrusion Detection
Delay Assessnent System (PIDDAS). Cosed circuit television
cameras provide a 360-degree visual access to the LLNL's central
al arm system (CAS). Manned 24 hours a day, the CAS staff can
alert PSCs to possible intrusion. In addition, the ground
surface of the isolation zone is covered with material to slow
down an attenpted trespasser who succeeds in overcom ng one of

the two fences.



At the northeast corner of the Superblock is |ocated the
Nort heast Tower (NE Tower), and just to the south of the tower is
an energency portal. From the NE Tower can be seen the isolation
zone westward to the northmest corner, and southward to the
Sout heast Bunker (SE Bunker). The SE Bunker lies at the
sout heast corner of the Superblock.® Fromthis bunker can be

seen the isolation zone to the Northeast Bunker and

- -westward to the Sout hwest Tower (SWTower). The SW Tower is

located on the roof of Building 331 in the extreme southwest
corner of the'SuperbIock. About two-thirds the distance fromthe
SE Bunker to the SWTower is located the south portal. Fromthe
SM/waEr can be seen the isolation zones eastward to the SE
Bunker and northward.to the northwest corner of the Superbl ock.

At the northwest corner is the Northwest Portal (NWPortal),
_mhere the main entrance to the Superblock is located. Here
persons and vehicles are searched for entrance into the
Super bl ock.” To-the east, and slightly south, alnost due north

of the south portal is the Northwest Bunker.?

®Manni ng and duties for this location are the sane as for
t he Northeast Bunker.

‘At the corner is the tower, another steel and gl ass
encl osure, where the PSO was to observe the fence |ines and
i solation zones on the north and east side. This position is one
that was renoved by the action conplained of by charging party.

8 This is a steel room about eight-by-eight feet, consisting
of bullet resisting steel and glass. An arnmed PSO is stationed
there. The officer has a handgun and an auxiliary weapon, a
sem -automatic rifle. -



Four buildings, of varying, size and height (the highest is
three stories high), house programconponents, and are nunbered
331 (one story), 332 (one and two stories), 334 (three stories)
and 335 (one story). The buildings provide barrier to ful
visual access to all t he groundslmﬁthin t he Superbl ock, both from
~the towers and the bunkers. The walls of the buil dings housing
the nuclear material are nine inches of reinforced concrete.
| Per sons atténpting to enter fhe Super bl ock are first
required to enter a telebhone boot h-1i ke room called a "cane
booth," at the NWPortal. The person enters a coded card into a
.reader head with their personal access nunber. If the nunber is
acceptable; a second door opens and allows entrance to the search
area, which is much like an airport security area. The person
steps through a netal detector and itens are exam ned under an
X-ray machi ne.

Vehi cl es enter the Superblock via a "sallyport" area, again
at the NWPortal, where they are searched.

The NWPortal is manned by two officers, one of whomis
within the portal and operates the x-ray and sall yport
i nspections. The officers are separated so that both cannot be
conprom sed at once.

PSCs' duties at the Superblock are to protect classified and
SNMs from unaut hori zed theft, sabotage or other use. The
protection is acconplished by assessnent and interdiction.
Assessnent is response to threats of endangernent to the facility

and interdiction is exclusionary or denial tactics. O equa



inmportance is to prevent the nuclear materials from being noved
to the outside. |In effect, as Crowder testified, their purpose
is to protect the people outside the Superbl ock.?®

O her neans, electronic and otherw se, are enployed by the
LLNL to provide detection. As noted, several electronic systens
around the area are designed to notify PSCs of intrusion.’® Upon’
notice, the PSCs will assess the intrusion and undertake
interdiction (i.e., fighting tactics), if appropriate.

Two different shifts operate during the daytine, one from
6:00 am to 3:30 p.m, and a second from7:00 am to 3:00 p.m
The swing shift covers 3:00 ppm wuntil [i:30 p.m and the ow
shift is 11:.00 pm to 7:30 a.m. PSCs are regularly schedul ed
for periods bf time to shifts within the Superblock and then to
shifts outside the Superblock, but within the LLNL.

In May of 1994, the LLNL conducted a series of self
assessnent tests for reduced costs in the Superblock. It is not

di sputed that DCE was the initiator in this effort. The DOE and

11

t he Vulnerability Anal ysis Research Goup (V wer e

_ °I ndeed, Chowder said the duty of the PSO was " . . nor e
to protect the people outside of the superbl ock from the
ram fications of it gettlng out . " Crowder al so agreed
that the "people outside,’ incl udes “"the whol e worl d"

©'n a hearing before PERB in 1992, Kasper testified that the
PSCs inside the Superblock do not have detection responsibility
since the installation of the PIDDAS, an advanced detection
system Their responsibility, said Kasper, is assessnent and
interdiction, the latter by way of exclusionary or denial
tactics.

1VARGis a subgroup within the Safeguards and Security
Departnment whi ch addresses security design of the Superbl ock and
SNM



responsible for the analysis of neasures to find an tol erable
| evel of security to reach | ower costs at the Superblock. This
anal ysi s invol ved assunption of "the worst case scenario,"”
i nformation about which the University ¢l ai med was classified. *
The test results led the University to conclude that fewer PSGs
could be used within the Superbl ock. |

After PSOA's certification by PERB, the parties first met in
hbyenber of 1994, and discussed ground rules. Proposals
sunshi ned by either side did not include any staffing changés.

The January_1995 Staffing Changes Announcenents

On the norning of January 5, 1995, the LLNL announced to
| aboratory enpl oyees, but not PSOA, changes to staffing at the
Super bl ock. These changes were conponents of the A-|l option, one

of many designed to reduce costs of the LLNL.™® A general

12psA had, by subpoena duces tecum called for several naned
docunents that went to the established risk determ nation. Anong
“these were the Vulnerability Assessnent Probability of Occurrence
Policy and the Design Basic Threat Policy. The University _
claimed the documents were classified and woul d not reveal their
contents. PSQA requested and the adm nistrative |aw judge (ALJ)
granted exclusion of any testinony by University wtnesses on
dnformation that was contained within the documents withheld by
the University. (See Code of Gvil Procedure section
2023(b)(3).) \VWhile the University clainms denial of opportunity
to put on a defense to the charge by the exclusionary ruling,
this proposed decision does not question either the nmeans by
whi ch the determ nation of an acceptable staffing |evel was nmade,
or the conclusion itself. The PSQA concurred in this limtation
Hence, application of the rule of exclusion did not affect the
Uni versity's defense in this case.

BThe A-1 option cane about, said Kasper, as a result of a

DOE "cost effectiveness review." Kasper testified that the cost
of maintaining the plutonium facility in Superblock was exceeding
the cost of research that was bei ng conducted. In an effort to

reduce the cost, DOE directed a cost effectiveness review

10



announcenent that sane day indicated the change was bei ng made to
reduce the cost of Superblock security. | mpl enent ati on of the
plan was stated to "result in substantial cost savings to the
def ense and nucl ear technol ogies program "

On that same day, the parties neet for the second
negoti ating session. At the bargaining session, PSOA raised the
A-1 option as affecting workload and safety.

Crowder's testinony is sonewhat vague as to the precise
demand made at the table. It appears thaf he requested
.negotiations on wor kl oad and safety and the effects of the
change. Kasper confirned that there were discussions about
"safety issues and worKkl oad. "

Crowder's testinony does not, however, provide a basis for
finding that PSOA requested to negotiate overtine pay at the
~January 5 neeting.

Robert Perko (Perko), representing the University, credibly
testified that PSOA never nentioned econom c i Ssues. Per ko
inquired as to.mhich | abor codes covered the issue and that the
changes were classified and not subject to bargaining.

PSOA requested all docunents relating to the change and
Per ko responded that they were classified. PSOA was told that
setting the level of security was the University's right and not
bar gai nabl e. The LLNL announced that Kasper would nmake a

presentation at the next bargaining sessi on.
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At the next session Kasper spoke of the history of the
‘Super bl ock.  The University refused to bargain over the inpact of
the reduction or talk about the inpact on worKkl oad.

The Staffing_Changes

Bef ore the change announced on January 5, 1995, there were
13 PSO positions on day shift, and 11 on each the swing and ow
shifts.* Shift diffefential sal ary bonus of 7-1/2 percent and
15 percent were given to swing and owl shift PSOs, respectively.

There were two officers in the NWPortal,' one in the
Nor t hwest Bunker, one in the NE Tower, one in the SE Bunker and
one in the SWTower. In addition, there was one officer in
increnment three post, one officer in increnent three search and
one tenporary position at increment one.!® Day shift had three
roving foot patrols, and swng and ow shifts had two roving foot

patrol s .each

“The change actually occurred the following April. Those
swing and ow shift enpl oyees whose positions were cut fromthe
Super bl ock were reassigned to the day shift outside of the
Superbl ock, losing shift differentials, and assum ng ot her
duti es.

There are a nunber of positions outside of the Superbl ock
that are paid from funds other than defense. Al those inside
the Superblock as well as three notor patrols outside the
Superbl ock fence are paid for by defense and are part of the
m ni mum r equi renent .

*The portal officer and the portal entry officer.

Al ncrenment designations nean positions of officers |ocated

i nside buil di ngs. Increnent three is the nmain entrance to the
Radi oactive Materials Area (RVA), manned by two officers, at the
east end of Building 332. Increment one is in the central part

of Building 332.
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Under the A-I plan, two positions, the NWPortal post
of ficer position, and the NWPortal entry search officer, would
be restricted. Both previously covered 24 hours a day, seven
days a week, and as a result of the plan were thereafter staffed
only on Monday through Friday, 0600 to 1900 hours. The NW Por t a
is otherw se closed at night and on week-ends.

Tmenty-four.hour coverage at the NWand SW Towers was
el i m nat ed.

According to Crowder, the change included the elimnation of
the NE Tower officer who formerly operated the energéncy entrance
portal. The energency entrance portal is now manned by the SE
Bunker officer who nust exit his bunker andlgo by foot to the
ener gency entrance portal to'nanually operate the gate.

The second and third of three day shift foot patrol
positions were elimnated. The second of two swing and oW shift
foot patrol positions were elimnated. -

In addition, there were four notor patrols surrounding the
Super bl ock. According to Crowder, the change was to three motor
patrols. This testinony is however, very vague, and accordingly,
| decline to nake a finding wwth respect to the notor patrols
surroundi ng the Superbl ock.

The change al so caused a loss of ovértine by one-hal f hour
every day, for certain Superblock officefs. The regul ar shift
was eight and one-half hours- per day, one-half hour of which was
a lunch period for which there is no pay. However, certain

Super bl ock officers were not relieved for the lunch period so
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they received one hal f-hour pay for their |unch period. Prior to
t he change, 14 positions inside the Superblock were designated as
"no code" meaning they received pay for the |unch period.?

In addition to the changes descri bed abbve,,()omderf
descri bed the other inpacté as follows:

The NE Tower and SE Tower officers were renoved from
"hardened" quarters, safe for personal reasons, thus PSGCs could
not assess nor interdict fromthose |ocations. As a consequence,
foot patrol officers, who fornerly did not performthose duties
were required to assune them

This, conbined with the elimnation of foot patrol officer
two on the swng and ow shifts, encunbered the foot patrol
of ficer number one and the sergeant (not a nember of the unit)
with additional duties. This was described in the notice issued
| by the Univérsity on January 5, 1995, where it was stated that
the sergeant would assume the responsibility to insure the NW

Portal was properly secured and all alarns are set when the

st the first day of hearing, in response to charging’
party's opening statement on the matter, the University raised
objection to and noved to strike any reference to a change in
overtime paynents. The objection was that prior to the hearing
PSQA had only raised issues of safety and workl oad, and had never
raised the overtine issue. The University requested a recess to
gain an opportunity to prepare evidence on the issue.

The ALJ noted that the hearing was scheduled for four days,
and that he was prepared to go four days, ‘and for the nonent,
denied the notion. The University did not raise concern again
during the hearing about overtime pay for the worked | unch
period, and in fact, cross examned Crowder about the issue.

14



portal is not manned. Also, the sergeant woul d assune escort
responsibilities.

Crowder testified that prior to the elimnation of the
second foot patrol officer positions on the swing and ow shifts,
foot patrol officer one would handle escorts and al arm
assessnents with the sergeant; Foot patrol officer two provided
breaks to all the other posts within the Superbl ock, perforned
vehicle searches at the NW Portal and additional duties assigned
by the sergeant. A&ter the chaﬁge, all duties of the foot patrol
officer two position were assuned by the -foot patrol officer one.

| Before the changef f oot patrbl officer one escorted persons
within the RVA and handl ed al arm assessments with the sergeant.
Foot patrol officer two was to do searches at the NWPortal for
vehi cl es who cane during the swing or ow shifts, gave breaks to
all the other posts w thin Superbl ock and perforned m scel | aneous
duti es assigned by the sergeant. After the change, the foot
pat r ol dfficer one had to assume those duties formerly done by
foot patrol officer two. |

As noted, before the change, the NW Portal was nmanned 24
hours a day, seven days a week. It nowcloses at 7:00 p.m as a
result of the change. As before, maintenance and hazards control
personnel need access twice a night through the NMIPortaI7 t hus,
fobt pat r ol officer one and the increnent officer have to open up
the NW Portal to allow access.

When those personnel have to do a wal k-through of the

storage area, increnent search and foot patrol officer one have
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to open up the NWPortal, search them allowthemin and secure
the NW Portal, then they nust open up increnent three, their
normal duty before January 5. |

Bot h mai nt enance and hazard control personnel regularly cone
at once. \Were before each of the two foot patrol officers would
escort each of the two personnel into the Superbl ock, now foot
patrol officer one nust escort one and then return to escort the
ot her.

~Crowder said the "fighting" duties have ihcreased because of
the reduction in manpower: There has been no changes in the
policies on use of deadly force or expectafions of officers in
the instance of engagenent. This neans, said Crowder, the PSGCs
have to "fight twice as hard," ‘against any intruder.

No PSOs were laid off as a result of the reduction in
personnel covéring t he Superblock. Those officers whose
positions were elimnated inside the Superblock under the A@I
option were transferred to duties outside the Superblock and paid
froma différent category of funding. Hence, reduction in
.expenses within the Superblock was realized.

No one has ever tried to scale the fence surrounding the
Superbl ock. No one has tried to shoot a weapon into the |

Super bl ock.
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| SSUES
The issue in this case is whether the University vi ol at ed
fhe HEERA when it unilaterally reduced the staffing of PSGCs
wi thin the Superbl ock and_or when it elimnated overtine paynent
for certain PSGs for work during lunchtine?

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

Section 3570 of . HEERA i nposes upon the University the duty
to neet and confer with exclusive representatives on all matters
within the scope of representation.

The scope of representation for the University, neans "and
is limted to, wages, hours of enploynent, and other terns and
condi tions -of enploynent."!® The scope of representation shal
not i ncl ude:

(1) Consideration of the nerits, necessity,
or organi zation of any service, activity, or
program established by |aw or resol ution of

the regents or the directors, except for the

terns and conditions of enploynent of
enpl oyees who nay be affected thereby.

Section 3562(q)(4) further provides that:

.o All matters not within the scope of
representation are reserved to the enployer and
may not be subject to neeting and conferring,
provided that nothing herein may be construed to
[imt the right of the enployer to consult with
_any enpl oyees or enployee organi zation on any
matter outside the scope of representation.

PERB precedent is clear that the enployer's failure to neet
and negotiate in good faith with the exclusive representative

about a matter within the scope of representation is unlawf ul.

18Sect i on 3562 (q) .
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Mor eover, a unilateral change in terns and condi ti ons of
enpl oynent within the scope of representation, is, in the absence

of a valid defense, a per se refusal to negotiate. (Paj aro

Valley_Unified School District (1978) PERB Decision No. 51;

San Mateo County Community _College District (1979) PERB Deci sion
No. 94.) These principl esl apply to the University as well.
(Regents of the University O Célifor nia (1987) PERB Deci sion
No. 640-H (Regents).)

The duty arises once a firmdecision has been made.

(M. Diablo Unified School District (1983) PERB Decision No. 373

Regents.) Under the Educational Enploynment Relations Act

" (EERA), *° where the scépe | anguage is different, PERB has

. devel oped the followi ng test where a non-enunerated subject wll
be found to be within the scope of. representation if: (1) it is
logically and reasonably related to hours, wages or an enunerated
termand condition of enploynent; (2) the subject is of such
concern to both managenent and enpl oyees that conflict is likely
.to occur and the nediatory influence of collective negotiations
is the appropriate neans of resol vi ng the conflict; and (3) the
enpl oyer's obligation to negotiate would not significantly
abridge i ts freedom to exercise those manageri al prerogatives
(including matters of fundanmental policy) essential to the

achi evemrent of the District's m ssion. (Anahei m Uni on Hi gh

School District (1981) PERB Decision No. 177, cited with approval

EERA is codified at section 3540 et seq.
18



by the California Suprene Court in San Mat e Gty School District

et _al v. PERB (1983) 33 Cal.3d 850, 864 [191 Cal.Rptr. 800].)

Wet her a violation of HEERA has occurred depends on whet her
the decision to change the staffing levels of PSGs within the
Super bl ock, or the effects of that change, are within the scope
of representation.

The Deci sion To Change Staffing Level

The University is eXcused from bargai ni ng about the decision
to change PSO staffing'levels in the Superblock if either of the
following circunstances are met: - (1) staffing levels fall within
the "merits, necessity, or organization of any service, activity
or progrant and are excluded from negotiability under section
3562(qg); or (2 manning | evels do not constitute wages, hours, or
other ternms and conditions of enploynent.

The PSQOA argues that under First National Mintenance Corp..

v. NLRB (1981) 452 U.S. 666 [107 LRRM 2705] (Eirst Natjonal) an

~enployer's decision to reduce the size of a particul ar operation
is bargainable if notivated by |abor costs. The University
contends the case stands for the opposite point.

First National addressed the enployer's obligation to

negotiate its decision to terninate a janitorial services
contract with a rest home. The rest hone was one of several that
the enpl oyer, by contract, provided services. Wat the Suprene
Court said was:

W conclude that the harm likely to be-done

to an enployer's need to operate freely in

deci di ng whether to shut down part of its

busi ness purely for econom c reasons
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outwei ghs the increnmental benefit that m ght

be gained through the union's participation
in maki ng the decision, and we hold that the

decision itself is not part of section 8(d)'s
"terns and conditions,” . . . over which

Congr ess has mandat ed bargalnlng [ Fn.

om tted, enphasis in original.?®]

In Arcata Elenentarv School District (1996) PERB Deci sion

No. 1163, the Board cited, anong others, First National for the

proposition that the National Labor Relations Board has excluded
manageri al decisions "which lie at the core of entrepreneurial
control fromthe scope of representation unless the decision is

based upon | abor costs.”
The Board went to expound the test as applied to a schoo

board' s decision to reduce the hours of vacant positions as

foll ows:

.. Such a decision which reflects a change
‘in the nature, direction or |evel of service
falls within managenent's prerogative and is
outsi de the scope of representation.
Conversely, a decision to change the hours of
a vacant position which is based on |abor
cost considerations and does not reflect a
change in the nature, direction or |evel of
. service, is directly related to issues of
enpl oyee wages and hours and is within the
scope of representation. [Fn. omtted.]

In this case the decision to change the staffing |evel was
clearly predicated on |abor costs. DCE mandat ed the VARG
anal ysis to reduce costs and the LLNL clearly inplenmented the

change to reduce the cost of security wthin the Superbl ock.

. The court went on to observe that the decision to halt work

at the specific location "represented a significant change in
petitioner's operations, a change not unlike opening a new |ine
of business or going out of business entirely."
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Yef, the decision to reduce the staffing level within the
‘Superbl ock also constitutes a determ nation of |evel of service
to be provided. This type of decision was recognized by PERB in
Arcata to remain within the prerogatives of nmanagenent.

Moreover, in M. Diablo Unified Sdhool District (1983) PERB

Deci sion No..373, the Board held t hat staffing levels were within
.nanagerial prerogative, and thus not negotiable.

There is additional support for a conclusion that the
‘decision to change the staffing |level of security inside the
| Superblock is wthin managerial prerogatives. The University
argues that the decision to reduce staffing at the Superblock is
preenpted by federal law, and relieves the University from
nmeeting and conferring about the decision to change staffing
| evel s. | |

Cting the section of the Code of Federal Regulation set
forth above, the University relies on California Federal S& Assn
V. GQuerra (1987) 479 U.S. 272 [93 L.Ed.2d 613] which holds that
the United State Cbnstitution's supremacy cl ause gives federa
| aw supersession over state |law (1) ﬁhen Congress, within
constitutional limts, preenpts state law by so stating in
express ternms; (2) by inplication, where the schene of federa
regulation is so sufficiently'conprehensive to make reasonabl e
the inference that Congress "left no roomfor" supplementary
state regulation; or (3) where there is an actual conflict

bet ween state and federal |[|aw.
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In Boyle v. United Technol ogies Corp._ (1988) 487 U.S. 500

[101 L.Ed.2d 442], the preenption doctrine was extended by the
Suprene Court to those situations where:

. . . [A "significant conflict" exists

between an identifiable "federal policy or

interest and the [operation] of state |aw

[citation] or the application of state |aw

woul d "frustrate specific objectives" of

federal |egislation,

DOE's authority, under the Atomc Energy Act to control
-possession, use and production of atom c energy, includes
“regul ation enact ment regardi ng atom c enerqgy.

The cited regul ation gives DOE absolute and final decision
meki ng over security and expressly exenpts from collective
bar gai ni ng bet ween nanageneht and | abor the "security rules" and
"their admnistration.”

Here, urges the University, the regulations place "all

matters of security" under federal control and ™all matters of
security" nmust include deci si ons of how, where and when security
forces are to be stationed.

It further argues that a réquirenent under HEERA to bargain
staffing decisions would inevitably conflict with federa
aut hority. In this case, it would nean that any deci sion
concerni ng nunber or placement of officers would have to be

bar gai ned because there woul d arguably almays be an inpact on

"safety and workload.” A failure to bargain could result in an

order to restore the status quo ante with respect to staffing.
This would necessarily interfere with DOE' s authority to
determne the level of security it wants. It is not possible to
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pl ace these issues on the bargaining table or under PERB' s
jurisdiction, without interfering wth federal authority and
federal interests, argues the University.?

In San Jose Peace Oficers Assn. v. Gty of San Jose (1978)

78 Cal . App.3d 935 [144 Cal .Rptr. 638], 22 the court of appeal
“reviewed the negotiability of a city's policy on use of force by
policenmen. The court concluded California |law on the question of
whet her the decision is bargai nable rests on whet her the issue
"prinari]y i nvol ves the workl oad and safety of the nen ('wages,
hours and working conditions') or the bolicy of'fire prevention
of the Gty ('nerits, necessity or organization of any
.governnmental service')". | (Enphasis in original.)

The court of appeal stated:

. Unlike the normal job in the private
sector, or indeed, the job of a fire fighter,
police work presents danger fromthird
parties, rather than from dangerous working
conditions. Thus the enployer cannot
elimnate safety problens nerely by
purchasi ng better equi pnment or by increasing
the work force, as in Fire Fighters. The
danger posed to a police officer by a
suspected crimnal nust be bal anced agai nst
difficult considerations of when an escapi ng
crimnal should pay the price of death for

“In Regents of the University of California v. Public
Enpl oynent Rel ations Board (1988) 485 U. S. 589 [99 L.Ed.2d 664],
the United States Suprenme Court held that the federal postal
regul ations precluded PERB's efforts to hold the University in
violation of HEERA for its refusal to process a union's mail.
The union's mail was found not to fall within exenptions from
mai | carrying under the regulations relied upon by PERB

22The University cites Los Angel es Community College District

(1988) PERB Deci sion No. HO U374 [12 PERC 19174], for the
proposition that PERB has adopted the prem se of San Jose. That
was an ALJ decision, however, which has no precedential val ue.
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i gnoring a peace officer's command to stop.
Viewed in this context, the safety of the
policeman, as inportant as it is, IS so
inextricably interwoven with inportant policy
considerations relating to basic concepts of
the entire systemof crimnal justice that we
cannot say that the use of force policy
concerns "primarily" a matter of wages, hours
or working conditions.

Here, the staffing level is tantanount to the |evel of
security that the DOE w Il accept for protection of SNM Thi s
| evel of protection is not only frominvasion, for insiders, but
nmore inportantly to prevent renoval of SNM for protection of the
worl d outside the Superblock. This is a nmanagenent decision that
shoul d not be subjected to the give and take of collective
bar gai ni ng.

The determ nation of how many PSGs are to be on shift at any
given tinme, or location, is a matter of determ nation of the
necessity and/or organi zation of the service of protecting the
Super bl ock.

| conclude that the decision to reduce the staffing level in
t he SUperbIock IS non-negotiable on the prem se that the
determ nation by DOE of the acceptable security level is
preenpt ed by federal |aw. Further justification for this
conclusion is that the HEERA prohibits negotiations on the

necessity, or organiiation of any service established by the

Uni versity.

The Effects of the Decision as Bargainable
PSOA tentatively recognizes that the decision to reduce

staffing may not be negotiable, but argues that the | npact of
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that decision is negotiable. This contention is in accord with
Nat i onal Labor Rel ations Board (NLRB) policy and PERB decisions'
in other areas where the decision to |layoff, for exanple, is a
© managenent prerogative, but the effects of the layoff are within

t he scope of bargaining. (See First National; Newark Unified:

School District (1982) PERB Decisioh No. 225.)

The exclusionary | anguage of HEERA al so suggest | egislative
intent that organization decisions are out of scope, yet the
effects of the decision are bar gai nable. Specifically, section
3562(q) (1) exenpts fromthe scope of representation, Lthe nerits,
necessity, or organization of any service, activity, or program
establ i shed by [the regents]" but carves out of that exenption

the "terns and conditions of'eangynent of enpl oyees who nmay be

affected thereby." (Underscoring added.)

PSOA argues that three effects of the décision to reduce
staffing are wthin the scope of negotiations. They are safety,

wor kl oad and wages.

PSOA relies on Eire Fighters Unionv. Oty of VaIIeid.(1974)
12 Cal.3d 608 [116 Cal .Rptr. 507j for the proposition that safety
and morkldad are within the scope of negotiations. -There, the
Supr ene Cburt-was faced wi th | anguage sonewhat simlar, but as
noted, in a very barren factual settihg.

Under the city charter, the enployer was obligated to
bargain "wages, hours and working conditions,"” but did not have
to bargain matters involving the "nerits, necessity or

organi zation of any governnmental service."
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The court was being asked to consider the negotiability of
uni on proposal s that were otherw se subject to arbitration, one
of which was a staffing proposal. |

" The city contended that the staffing proposal would invade
t he nerits; necessity or organi zation of the fire departnent.

The Suprene Cour t foll owed NLRB precedent in holding that
wor kl oad and enpl oyee safety are subjects of bargaining.

However, as the University points out, the court actually ruled
that it was up to the arbitrator to deci de the extent to which
the union's man-power proposal primarily involved the "workload
and safety of the nen ('wages, hours and working conditions') or
the policy of fire prevention of the Gty ('nerits, necessity or
organi zati on of any governnental service')." Because the union
had abandoned a proposal for a new fire house and nore equi pnent,
~and instead accepted a recommendation that the staffing schedul e
in effect be unchanged during the termof the agreeﬁent, t he
court refused to rule that a proposal of the latter type would
~invade managenents rights as to "nerits, necessity, or

organi zati on".

In this'case, it is not possible to ascertain the extent to
whi ch negotiating about either safety or workload issues would
conproni se the manageri al prerogative of staffing |evels. PSOA
was never given an opportunity to advance a proposal by which
that guestion could be answered. Rather, the University, wthout

notice to PSQA announced the change and refused to neet and
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‘confer about safety or workload, clearly effects of the staffing
| evel change.

The University argues that PSOA failed to request to neet
and confer with sufficient specificity to establish a prima facie
case of the University's refusal.

I n Newran- Crows Landing Unified School District (1982) PERB

Deci si on No. 223, PERB hel d:
. Wiile it is not essential that a
request to negotiate be specific or made in a
particular form [citations] it is inportant
for the charging party to have signified its
desire to negotiate to the enployer by sone
means. ...

The Board further stated:

In other words, a valid request will be
found, regardless of its formor the words
used, if it adequately signifies a desire to
negotiate on a subject wthin the scope of
bar gai ni ng. .

Here, PSQA requested discussion on workl oad and safety
consequences of the decision to reduce the staffing level at the
" Superblock. The University refused to discuss those issues on
the grounds that the staffing |level was not bargainable. The
| ast prem se is correct, but the University should have
ascertained the issues PSOA was concerned about. Following its
uni | ateral decision to change the -staffing |evel which inpacted
wor kl oad and safety issues, the University refused to discuss
t hose i ssues. It should have nade a good faith effort to seek
clarification of what it perceived to be questionable subjects

for nmeet and confer. (See Heal dsburg Uni on Hi gh_School District
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(1984) PERB Deci sion No. 375; Regents of the University_of

California (1985) PERB Decision No. 520-H.)

Here, the Uhiversity took a firmposition that staffing
| evel s was a nmanagenent prerogative that precluded discussion of
safety and workl oad i ssues. As the above analysis_shows, bot h
issues are in fact subject to the scope of neet and confer.
Hence, the University's refusal was a violation of the HEERA
Overtine _ |

As PSQA argues, wages includes overtinme conpensation.

(@akland Unified School District (1983) PERB Decision No. 367.)

In this case, the University unilaterally termnated the practice
of paying one-half hour overtine to certain PSOs within the
Super bl ock.

The University advances sever al argunments against liability
on the overtime issue. It contends that PSOA never raised any
econonic'issues before the first day of hearing, and shoul d be
- estopped fromraising the issue at hearjng.
| The University contends that the overtime issue is properly
relegated to a separate unilateral action upon which the PSOA
shoul d have filed a separate charge, and having failed to do so,
renders the charge untinely.

Both argunents are rejected. PSOA' s reaction to the
University's change, under the facts of this case, is irrelevant
as the University's action précluded an assessnment of PSQOA' s

conduct . It is the gravanén of harm here that the University
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took action without notice to PSOA, not PSCA's failure to request
bargai ning the overtine issue.

In addition, how the decision to term nate the overtine
entitlement was or is separate fromthe decision to reduce
staffing levels is known only to the University. It presented no
evi dence of such separation at the hearing. Thé t esti nony of
Crowder is undisputed that at the sane tinme the staffing |evels
éhanges were inplenmented, the overtine paynent stopped. It
cannot be discerned that the decision to termnate the overtine
paynent was not part of the decision to reduce staffing |evels.
Crowder's testinony that the LLNL was able to.provide coverage by
the officers made available as a result of the transfer to
| ocations outside the Superblock was not disputed by any
Uni versity evi dence.

The decision to reduce manni ng | evels was predicated upon a
determ nation to reduce. cost of security. The cost of paynment of
overtine for the lunch period was saved by its elimnation.

There is no evidence to support the University's contention that
the change was not a "byproduct or direct consequence of the
reduction in the Superblock staffing, but the result of a
conscious deci si on by managenent that it would not |onger pay for
the overtine."”

At hearing, and inferentially in its post-hearing briefs,
the University contends that it was not given an opportunity to

def end against the overtime issue. Yet the University never
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rai sed the issue during the hearing, other than foiloming PSQA' s
openi ng statenent.

At the tine the ALJ denied the notion to strike, the hearing
was in the first of what was expected to be a four day hearing,
during which the University could have further expiored t he.
inability to present a defense to the overtine issue. Ii did
not. The hearing concluded at the end of the second day. The
‘University did not raise the inability to defend posture before
the end of the hearing.®

It is concluded that the University violated section 357i(c)
of the HEERA when it refused to neet and confer over workl oad and
safety inpacts of the change in staffing levels, and when it
unilaterally, and without notice to PSQA, elimnated the praétice
of overtime paynent to officers who were required to work during
their lunch break. This conduct also interfered with the
officers rights to be represented by their exclusive
representative in violation of section 3571(a).

REMEDY
Section 3543.3 enpowers. PERB to
I ssue a decision and order directing an
offending party to cease and desist fromthe
unfair practice and to take such affirmative
action, including but not limted to the
reinstatenent of enployees with or wthout

back pay, as will effectuate the policies of
this chapter.

BThe ALJ stated that he woul d do whatever he could to
provi de sufficient opportunity to the University to defend its
case. As noted, the University did not allude to the probl em
again in the bal ance of the hearing.
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It has been found that the UniVersity breached its
obligation to nmeet and confer in good faith with PSOA by refusing
to neet and confer with PSOA about the effects of a change in |
staffing levels on workload and safety, in violation of section
3571(c). The University also breached its neet and confer
obligation by unilaterally termnating the practice of overtine
paynent for lunch tinme worked by officers in_the'SuperbIock. By
the sanme conduct, the University interfered with the right of
enpl oyees to be represented- by their chosen representative in
t hei r enpl oynent relations with the University, in violation of
section 3571(a). It is appropriate to order the'University to
cease and desist from such activity in the future.

PSOA requests that the University be ordered to restore the
staffing levels that prevailed before January 5, 1995. It has
beeh found, however, that the University was under no obligation
" to neet and confer with PSOA about the decision to reduce the
staffing level within the Superblobk. Thus, no restoration of
the status quo ante is nerited.

The University was, however, obliged to negotiate the
effects of the decision to reduce the staffing |evel.

PSQOA requests back pay for the officers who remain within
the Superblock and are no |onger receiving the one-half hour
overtine. It also requests back pay for those officers who were
renoved from the Superblock as a result of the decision to reduce

the staffing level, and as a consequence of their renoval from
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t he Superbl ock, no Ionger have the opportunity to earn the one-
hal f hour overtine.

As to the first group, those officers remaining in the
Superbl ock, it is appropriate to order thé University to make
whol e those officers within the Superbl ock, affected by the
change. (See Laguna Sal ada Union School District (1995) PERB

Deci sion No. 1103, and cases cited therein.) They shall be nade
whol e for overtine lost since the change was put into place.

Such back pay shall be augnented by interest at ten (10) percent,
per annum to the time of paynent.

As to the second group of officers, those ﬁhb | ost the
opportunity for the overtinme paynent because of the transfer out
of the Superblock as a result of the reduction in staffing
| evel s, a standard back pay order is inappropriate because it has
been found that the University did have the sole authority to
make the decision to reduce the staffing |evel Wi thin the
Superbl ock. To award a standard back pay to this group of
foicers woul d usurp the University's authority to reduce the
staffing level . As has been found, however, the University did
have an obligation to bargain the effects of the decision to
reduce the staffing | evel. One such effect of the decision to
reduce the staffing level was to cause officers whose Superbl ock
positions were elimnated to |ose overtine opportunity. In this
instance, in order to restore the parties to a sonewhat closer

bargai ning equality, a special back pay order is appropriate.

(See Placentia Unified School District (1986) PERB Deci sion
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No. 595; Transmarine Navigation Corporation (1968) 170 NLRB 389
[67 LRRM1419] . ) |

It is also appropriate that the University be reqUired to
post a notice incorporating the terns of the order. The Notice
shoul d be subscribed by an authorized agent of the University,
indicating that it will conply vyith the ternms thereof. The
Notice shall not be reduced in size. Posting such a notice vm [
provi de enpl oyees with notice that the University has acted in an
unl awful manner and is being required to cease and desist from
this activity and wll conply wth the order. It effectuates the
pur poses of HEERA that enpl oyees be infornmed of the resolution of
the controversy and vv| Il announce the readiness of the University

to conply with the or der ed remedy. (Davis Unified School

District, et al. (1980) PERB Decision No. 116; Placerville Union

School District (1978) PERB Decision No. 69.)
PROPOSED ORDER

Upon the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of |aw,
and the entire record in the case, and pursuant to the H gher
Educati on Enpl oyer-ErrpI-oyee Rel ati ons Act (Act), Governnent Code
section 3563.3, it is hereby ordéred that the Regents of the
“University of California (Lawence Livernore National Laboratory)
(University) and its representatives shal I

A CEASE AND DESI ST FROM

1. Fai |l i ng and ref usi ng to neet and confer with the
Lawr ence Livernore National Laboratory Protective Service

O ficers Association (PSQY) about the effects of a change in
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staffing levels on workload and safety, and by unilaterally
elimnating overtinme paynent for lunch periods for officers
i nside the Superbl ock. -

2. Denying bargai ning unit enployees the right to be
represented by PSOA in their enploynent relations with the
Uni versity. |

B.. TAKE THE FOLLOW NG AFFI RVATI VE ACTI ONS DESI GNED TO
EFFECTUATE THE PCLI G ES OF THE ACT:

1. Pay to officers within the unit working within
Super bl ock one-hal f hour overfine consi stent with the past
practice, and in addition, pay to such officers back pay in the
anount of one-half hour overtine per work day fromthe tine the
practice was éurtailed. Retroactive suns paid to such enpl oyees
shal | be subjecf to interest at the rate of 10 percent per annum

2. Beginning 10 days after this Proposed Deci sion
becones final, pay to officers who would have worked in the
Super bl ock and woul d have earned one-half hour overtinme, but for
the elimnation of the in-Superbl ock positions,'the rate of pay
for the overtine they woul d have earned until: (1) the date the
University bargains to agreenent with PSQOA regarding the inpact
of its decision fo reduce the staffing level within the
Supérblock; or (2) the date the University and PSOA neet and
confer to a bona fide inpasse; or (3) the failure of PSOA to
request bargaining within 10 days after this Decision is final or
to conmence negotiations within 5 working days of the
University's notice of its desire to neet and confer; or (4) the
subsequent failure of PSOA to neet and confer in good faith
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3. Wthin ten (10) working days of service of this
proposed decision, post at all work |ocations at LLNL where
notices to enployees customarily are placed, copies of the Notice
attached as an appendi x hereto. Such posting shall be maintained
for a period of thirty (30) consecutive workdays. Reasonable
steps shall be taken to ensure that said Notices are not reduced
in size, altered, defaced or covered by any other material.

4. Notify the San Francisco regional director of the
Publi c Enpl oynent Rel ations Board, in mkiting, of the steps the
University of California has taken to conply herewith in
accordance with her instructions.

Pursuant to California Code of Regulations, title 8,
section 32305, this Proposed Decision and Order shall becone
final unless a pafty files a statement of exceptions with the
Board itself at the headquarters office in Sacranmento mithin
20 days of service of this Decision. In accordance with PERB
Regul ations, - the statenment of exceptions should identify-by page
citation or ekhibit nunber the portions of the record, if any,
relied upon for such exceptions. (See Cal. Code of Regs.,
tit. 8, sec. 32300.) A docunent is considered "filed" when

actual ly received before the close of business (5:00 p.m) on the

| ast day set for filing ". . .or when sent by telegraph or
certified or Express United States mail, postmarked not Iatér
than the |ast day éet for filing . . " (See Cal. Code of Regs.,

tit. 8, sec. 32135; Code Civ. Proc, sec. 1013 shall apply.) Any

statenent of exceptions and supporting brief nust be served

35



concurrently with its filing upon each party to this proceeding.
Proof of service shall acconpany each copy served on a party or
filed with the Board itself. (See Cal. Code of Regs., tit. 8,
secs. 32300, 32305 and 32140.

Gary Gl lery
Adm ni strativelLaw
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